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DECISION
Larry Wayne Baker is subject to discipline because he entered a plea of guilty to procurement fraud and his Oklahoma license was disciplined.
Procedure

On January 4, 2010, the Missouri Board for Architects, Professional Engineers, Professional Land Surveyors and Landscape Architects (“Board”) filed a complaint to discipline Baker’s land surveyor license.  We served Baker by certified mail our notice of complaint/notice of hearing and a copy of the complaint.
  Baker did not respond.
We held a hearing on September 14, 2010.  Assistant Attorney General Nathan Priestaf represented the Board.  Neither Baker nor anyone representing him appeared.  This matter became ready for our decision on September 21, 2010, the date the transcript was filed.
Findings of Fact

1. Baker was licensed as a land surveyor from March 1, 1995 to December 31, 2009, when his license lapsed for his failure to renew.

2. On April 7, 2009, Baker entered a plea of guilty to procurement fraud, in violation of 18 USC §666(a)(2).

3. The following is the factual basis stated in Baker’s plea of guilty:

a. Albert Martinez was an agent of the City of Tulsa

b. [Baker] corruptly gave $9000 in the form of a bribe in connection with the awarding of contracts to the defendant’s company from the City of Tulsa;

c. The contracts with the City of Tulsa involved a value in excess of $5000.00;

d. The City of Tulsa received benefits of $10,000 in the one year period beginning on the dates listed in the indictment pursuant to a federal program, grant, contract, subsidy, loan or guarantee.[
]
4. The following is the confession stated in Baker’s plea of guilty:
I left my employment with the City of Tulsa in approximately January 2007 and bought Breisch & Associates, an engineering consulting firm located in Sand Springs, Oklahoma.  Prior to leaving the City of Tulsa, Albert Martinez and I ensured that there would be City contract’s (sic) awarded to Breisch and Associates..(sic)
On February 15, 2006, Albert Martinez and I were members of the Professional Consulting Services Selection Committee.  This committee was responsible for awarding of City of Tulsa inspection contracts.  Albert Martinez and I agreed, prior to the meeting, that Albert Martinez would sponsor the awarding of an inspection contract to Breisch and Associates, I agreed to pay Albert Martinez a bribe of 5% of the contract price.

Albert Martinez sponsored the awarding of a construction inspection contract “Vision 2025, Project No. 0444410 to widen 
36th Street North from Osage County Line to North Cincinnati Avenue.”  The contract was for $199,844.63.

On March 7, 2006, a Request for Action was submitted by Breisch and Associates for the project.  The Request for Action was approved and filed with the City on April 5, 2006 (sic).
  The first invoice for payment was received on November 1, 2006 (sic).
  Beginning on or about November of 2006 (sic),
 I began to make bribe payments to Albert Martinez in the amount of $900.00 a month for approximately 10 months to cover the approximately 5% kickback on the $199,000 contract.  The payments were made in cash.  All of the conduct occurred in the Northern District of Oklahoma.[
]
5. On August 27, 2009, Baker’s professional land surveyor certificate in Oklahoma was disciplined for his aforementioned guilty plea and underlying conduct.

Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear this case.
  The Board has the burden of proving Baker committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The Board argues that there is cause for discipline under § 327.441:

2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621 against any holder of any license or certificate of authority required by this chapter or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered such person's license or certificate of authority, for any one or any combination of the following causes:
*   *   *

(2) The person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, 
for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed;

*   *   *

(4) Obtaining or attempting to obtain any fee, charge, tuition or other compensation by fraud, deception or misrepresentation;
(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter;
(6) Violation of, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of this chapter, or of any lawful rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter;

*   *   *

(8) Disciplinary action against the holder of a license or a certificate of authority, or other right to practice any profession regulated by this chapter granted by another state, territory, federal agency or country upon grounds for which revocation or suspension is authorized in this state;
*   *   *

(13) Violation of any professional trust or confidence[.]

Subdivision (2)


Subdivision (2) allows for discipline if Baker entered a plea of guilty to a crime that is reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under Chapter 327 or an essential element of which  is either fraud or dishonesty or involves moral turpitude.


Reasonable relation is a low threshold.  To relate is to have a logical connection.
  Furthermore, inspection of construction is the practice of engineering, as provided in § 327.181.1, which states:
Any person practices in Missouri as a professional engineer who renders or offers to render or holds himself or herself out as willing or able to render…the inspection of construction for the purpose of compliance with drawings and specifications, any of which embraces such service or work either public or private, in connection with any…projects[.]
Baker’s firm, Breisch and Associates, is an engineering consulting firm that provided engineering services in the form of an inspection.  The contract to perform this inspection was obtained through illegal conduct that led to the plea of guilty.  Therefore, there is a reasonable relation between this plea of guilty and the profession of engineering, which is a profession licensed and regulated under Chapter 327.

The crime to which Baker entered pled guilty is procurement fraud under 18 USC § 666, which states:
(a) Whoever, if the circumstance described in subsection (b) of this section exists--

*   *   *

(2) corruptly gives, offers, or agrees to give anything of value to any person, with intent to influence or reward an agent of an organization or of a State, local or Indian tribal government, or any agency thereof, in connection with any business, transaction, or series of transactions of such organization, government, or agency involving anything of value of $5,000 or more; shall be fined under this title, imprisoned not more than 10 years, or both.

Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  The essential element of the federal crime of procurement fraud requires corruptly giving something of value to a government official to receive a contract of $5,000 or more.  We do not see the intentional perversion of the truth to be 
an element.  Rather, it merely requires an outright bribe, without any perversion of the truth.  Therefore, while the name of the crime contains the word “fraud,” its essential elements do not include our Missouri case law definition of fraud.  However, corruptly giving a bribe to a city official in return for a contract reeks of a lack of integrity, and therefore federal procurement fraud is a crime of dishonesty.

Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

In Brehe v. Missouri Dep’t of Elementary and Secondary Education,
 a case that involved discipline of a teacher’s certificate under § 168.071 for committing a crime involving moral turpitude, the court referred to three classifications of crimes:

(1) crimes that necessarily involve moral turpitude, such as frauds (Category 1 crimes);

(2) crimes “so obviously petty that conviction carries no suggestion of moral turpitude,” such as illegal parking (Category 2 crimes); and

(3) crimes that “may be saturated with moral turpitude,” yet do not involve it necessarily, such as willful failure to pay income tax or refusal to answer questions before a congressional committee (Category 3 crimes).

The court stated that Category 3 crimes require consideration of “the related factual circumstances” of the offense to determine whether moral turpitude is involved.
  We determine 
that the federal crime of procurement fraud, which is essentially the bribing of a government official, is a Category 1 crime.

Baker is subject to discipline under § 327.441.2(2) because the crime to which he pled guilty is reasonably related to a profession regulated under Chapter 327, a crime of dishonesty, and a crime of moral turpitude.

Subdivision (4)

Subdivision (4) allows for discipline if Baker obtained compensation by fraud, deception or misrepresentation.  Unlike subdivision (2), subdivision (4) allows us to look at Baker’s actions, rather than merely the essential elements of the crime to which he pled guilty.  Baker bribed Martinez to sponsor his company so that the City of Tulsa would award it a contract.  We infer that the only manner in which to illegally sponsor a company is to present a company that is not the most qualified bidder in a manner to make it appear to be the most qualified bidder to be awarded a contract.  This is an intentional perversion of the truth.  Thus, Baker committed fraud through his dealings with Martinez.

Deception means an act designed to cheat someone by inducing their reliance on misrepresentation.
  Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.
  We have already inferred from the facts that Baker, in conjunction with Martinez, made a falsehood with the intent to deceive the City of Tulsa.  This falsehood is a misrepresentation that induced the City of Tulsa to rely upon it to award a contract to Baker’s firm.  Thus, Baker committed both deception and misrepresentation.

Baker is subject to discipline under § 327.441.2(4) because he committed fraud, deception, and misrepresentation.

Subdivision (5)

Subdivision (5) allows for discipline for incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of a profession regulated under Chapter 327.

We have already found that the inspection contract relates to the functions and duties of a profession regulated under Chapter 327 and that Baker acted with fraud, misrepresentation, and dishonesty to procure this contract.

Incompetency is a general lack of professional ability, or a lack of disposition to use an otherwise sufficient professional ability, to perform in an occupation.
  We follow the analysis of incompetency in a disciplinary case from the Supreme Court, Albanna v. State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts.
  Incompetency is a “state of being” showing that a professional is unable or unwilling to function properly in the profession.
  We cannot assess whether Baker possesses the state of being required of incompetency with the procurement of one contract through a bribe.  Therefore, under these facts, we do not find Baker incompetent.


Misconduct is the intentional commission of a wrongful act.
  Baker intentionally committed the wrongful act of bribing Martinez for procurement of a government contract.  Consequently, he acted with misconduct.  Because the mental states for misconduct and gross negligence are mutually exclusive, we find no cause to discipline for gross negligence.

Baker is subject to discipline under § 327.441.2(5) for misconduct, fraud, misrepresentation, and dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of a profession regulated under Chapter 327.

Subdivision (6)


Subdivision (6) allows for discipline for violation of any rule or regulation adopted pursuant to Chapter 327.  The Board alleges Baker violated 20 CSR 2030-2.010 which states:
(3) In practicing architecture, professional engineering, land surveying or landscape architecture, a licensee shall act with reasonable care and competence, and shall apply the technical knowledge and skill which are ordinarily applied by architects, professional engineers, professional land surveyors or landscape architects of good standing, practicing in Missouri.  In the performance of professional services, licensees shall be cognizant that their primary responsibility is to the public welfare, and this shall not be compromised by any self-interest of the client or the licensee.

*   *   *

(5) Licensees, in the conduct of their practice, shall not knowingly violate any state or federal criminal law.  Licensees shall comply with state laws and regulations governing their practice.  In the performance of architectural, professional engineering, land surveying or landscape architectural services within a municipality or political subdivision that is governed by laws, codes and ordinances relating to the protection of life, health, property and welfare of the public, a licensee shall not knowingly violate these laws, codes and ordinances.

*   *   *

(11) Licensees shall not offer, give, solicit or receive, either directly or indirectly, any commission, contributions or valuable gifts, in order to secure employment, gain an unfair advantage over other licensees, or influence the judgment of others in awarding contracts for either public or private projects.  This provision is not intended to restrict in any manner the rights of licensees to participate in the political process; to provide reasonable entertainment and hospitality; or to pay a commission, percentage or brokerage fee to a bona fide employee or bona fide established commercial or marketing agency retained by the licensee.


Regulation 20 CSR 2030-2.010(3) requires that Baker’s responsibility to the public welfare shall not be compromised by self interest while performing the professional services of 
architecture, professional engineering, land surveying or landscape architecture.  Baker clearly allowed his self interest to compromise his responsibility to the public welfare by having Martinez sponsor his company as the most qualified bidder for an engineering service for which it was not the most qualified bidder.  Consequently, Baker violated 20 CSR 2030-2.010(3).

Regulation 20 CSR 2030-2.010(5) requires that Baker not knowingly violate a federal criminal law in the performance of engineering.  In his confession, Baker admitted to coming to an agreement with Martinez to award city contracts to Baker’s company prior to his leaving employment with the city.  Therefore, when he violated a federal law by paying Martinez bribes in return for a contract, it was done knowingly.  Consequently, Baker violated 20 CSR 2030-2.010(5).

Regulation 20 CSR 2030-2.010(11) requires that Baker not give a contribution to influence the judgment of others in awarding contracts for public projects.  Baker gave contributions in the form of bribes to Martinez so that his company could be awarded a public project.  Consequently, Baker violated 20 CSR 2030-2.010(11).

Baker is subject to discipline under § 327.441.2(6) for violating 20 CSR 2030-2.010(3), (5), and (11).

Subdivision (8)


Subdivision (8) allows for discipline if Baker’s license to practice as a land surveyor was disciplined in another state upon grounds for which revocation or suspension is authorized in Missouri.  Baker’s land surveyor license in Oklahoma was disciplined based on his guilty plea and underlying conduct as set out in the confession section of this plea.  We have already found that the guilty plea and underlying conduct constitute causes for which discipline is allowed in Missouri.  Therefore, Baker is subject to discipline under § 327.441.2(8) for the discipline of his land surveyor license in Oklahoma.
Subdivision (13)


Subdivision (13) allows for discipline if Baker violated a professional trust or confidence.  Professional trust is reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.
  It may exist not only between the professional and his clients, but also between the professional and his employer and colleagues.
  Under the facts we have, neither the City of Tulsa nor the public in general relied on Baker’s special knowledge and skills as a land surveyor during the illegal activity that led to his procurement of an inspection contract.  Baker is not subject to discipline under § 327.441.2(13).
Summary


There is cause to discipline Baker’s license under § 327.441.2(2), (4), (5), (6), and (8).  There is no cause to discipline Baker’s license under § 327.441.2(13).


SO ORDERED on March 28, 2011.


__________________________________



SREENIVASA   RAO   DANDAMUDI



Commissioner

�There is no date of delivery, but the certified receipt was filed with this Commission on January 19, 2010. 


�Ex. C.


�We infer the correct date to be April 5, 2007, based on the context of the entire confession.


�We infer the correct date to be November 1, 2007, based on the context of the entire confession.


�We infer the correct date to be November 2007, based on the context of the entire confession.


�Ex. C.


�Section 621.045.  Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to RSMo Supp. 2010.


�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


�These causes for discipline were not altered from the 2000 RSMo to the 2010 Supplement.


�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 1050 (11th ed. 2004).


�State ex rel. Williams v. Purl, 128 S.W. 196, 201 (Mo. 1910).


�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 359 (11th ed. 2004).


�In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).  


�213 S.W.3d 720 (Mo. App., W.D. 2007).


�Id. at 725 (quoting Twentieth Century-Fox Film Corp. v. Lardner, 216 F.2d 844, 852 (9th Cir. 1954)).


	�Brehe, 213 S.W.3d at 725.


�State ex rel. Nixon v. Telco Directory Publishing, 836 S.W.2d 596, 600 (Mo. banc 1993).


�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 794 (11th ed. 2004).


�Tendai v. Missouri State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 161 S.W.3d 358, 369 (Mo. banc 2005).


�293 S.W.3d 423 (Mo. banc 2009).  


�Id. at 435.


�Grace v. Missouri Gaming Comm’n, 51 S.W.3d 891, 900 (Mo. App., W.D. 2001).


� Trieseler v. Helmbacher, 168 S.W.2d 1030, 1036 (Mo. 1943).


� Cooper v. Missouri Bd. of Pharmacy, 774 S.W.2d 501, 504 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).
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